IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION TWO** STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, V. ROBERT BARRY, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY The Honorable Jeanette Dalton, Judge **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney for Appellant

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney at Law P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in finding C.C. did not have an apparent motive to lie when making allegations about appellant. CP 145 (Finding of Fact XIV).
- 2. The trial court erred in finding that general character of C.C. was a neutral factor regarding admission of his hearsay statements. CP 145 (Finding of Fact XV).
- 3. The trial court erred in concluding that the time, content, and circumstances of C.C.'s statements provided sufficient indicia of reliability. CP 146 (Conclusion of Law IV).
 - 4. The trial court erred in admitting unreliable child hearsay.
- 5. The court violated appellant's constitutional rights against self incrimination and to a verdict based on the evidence by instructing the jury to consider appellant's courtroom demeanor as evidence.

Issues pertaining to assignments of error

1. Appellant was convicted of one count of child molestation in the first degree. Over defense objection, the court admitted the child's hearsay statements alleging sexual contact by appellant. Where the balance of circumstances failed to demonstrate that the statements were reliable, did their admission deny appellant a fair trial?

2. Although appellant exercised his right not to testify at trial, the court instructed the jury in response to a question during deliberations that it could consider appellant's demeanor in the courtroom as evidence. Did the court's instruction violate appellant's constitutional rights not to testify and to a verdict based solely on the evidence?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History

On April 8, 2011, the Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant Robert Barry with one count of rape of a child against C.C. CP 1-8. The information was amended on January 23, 2012, changing the charge to child molestation in the first degree and adding a second charge of child molestation against B.C. CP 9-13; RCW 9A.44.083. The case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Jeanette Dalton. The jury entered a guilty verdict on count I, involving C.C., but was unable to reach a verdict as to the charge involving B.C. CP 137-39. The court imposed a sentence of 68 months to life imprisonment, and Barry filed this timely appeal. CP 149-58, 161-62.

2. Substantive Facts

Gwen Barry and Richard Catledge were married, and they have two sons, C.C. and B.C. 1RP 122-23. They divorced in 2010. 5RP 605. The divorce was very contentious, and it had a negative impact on the

children. 1RP 49, 148. C.C. was aware of the tension between his parents, and their issues had played out in front of him. 1RP 160, 198. As a result, C.C. needed a lot of attention and constantly needed to have people acknowledge him. 1RP 148.

The children were also aware of conflict between Richard and Gwen¹'s father, Robert Barry. The children had witnessed a dispute between Richard and Barry which resulted in the two men obtaining mutual restraining orders. 1RP 196-97; 4RP 338.

In February 2011, Richard and his wife, Lindsay Lohrenz, discovered that C.C. had engaged in sexual activities with his cousin. 1RP 124. During a sleepover, C.C. had his cousin put his mouth on C.C.'s penis, and C.C. attempted to put his penis in his cousin's bottom. 1RP 21. When asked about it, C.C. said he had learned the behavior from another boy, T.T. 1RP 23, 127. C.C. maintained that story for couple of weeks. 5RP 637.

C.C.'s parents took him to a mental health therapist, Jenny Fisher. 1RP 19; 5RP 614. During the course of counseling, C.C. admitted that he had initiated the behavior with T.T., as well as with another boy, and possibly with his brother. 1RP 46, 77; 5RP 616.

3

¹ Appellant Robert Barry is referred to as Barry. Other family members are referred to by their first names for the sake of clarity; no disrespect is intended.

Fisher believed that C.C. had learned about the sexual behavior he was engaging in from an adult, and she shared that information with his parents. 1RP 31, 133. Richard and Lindsay started questioning C.C. about who taught him this behavior. 1RP 137; 5RP 594-96.

About a month after C.C. had begun therapy with Fisher, C.C. changed his story. 1RP 40. One night after going to a movie, Richard and Lindsay questioned C.C. about who might have taught him this sexual behavior, telling C.C. it had to have been an adult. 5RP 595, 638. C.C. first accused Dennis, one of Gwen's ex-boyfriends. According to C.C., Richard gave him a look like he did not believe it was Dennis. 5RP 597. C.C. said that Richard and Lindsay told him it had to be someone other than Dennis, so he told them it was some guy off the street. 5RP 596.

According to Richard, when C.C. accused Dennis, Richard told C.C. that they had to report that information to the police because that was a serious accusation. 1RP 166; 5RP 621. C.C. then said it was not Dennis. 1RP 166. About ten to 15 minutes later, Richard left the room to check on B.C., and Lindsay called him back. 1RP 138, 166. Lindsay told C.C. to repeat what he had said, and C.C. said "It's my papa." 1RP 138; 5RP 623. Richard explained that C.C. called Barry "papa." 1RP 139; 5RP 623. Once C.C. named Barry, Richard and Lindsay ended the conversation. 1RP 139.

The next morning C.C. repeated the statements about Barry to Fisher. 1RP 33-34. Fisher referred C.C. to Tom Sherry, a therapist who works with children who act out sexually, and she told him there were allegations that C.C. had been abused by Barry. 1RP 57, 68. C.C. told Sherry that some "touching stuff" had happened with Barry. 1RP 73-74.

C.C. repeated the allegations against Barry when he was interviewed by the prosecutor's office. 3RP 291; Exhibit 1. After Barry was charged based on C.C.'s allegations, B.C. made allegations about Barry. 1RP 152. B.C. was interviewed by the prosecutor's office, and a new charge was added. 1RP 150; 3RP 292.

a. Admission of child hearsay

Prior to trial, the court held a hearing to determine whether C.C.'s and B.C.'s out of court statements would be admitted at trial. Richard, Lindsay, and C.C. testified regarding C.C.'s initial statements. C.C. also described the acts he said Barry committed, said they occurred in the back bedroom at Barry's house, there was more than one incident, and Barry told him that if he told anyone what happened, he would never see his family again. 1RP 99, 101, 107. In addition, Fisher and Sherry testified about C.C.'s statements during counseling sessions, and the recorded interview with the prosecutor's office was played for the court. 1RP 33, 77; 3RP 295.

Sherry also testified at the hearing that C.C. was aware of the tension between his parents, and he believed C.C. felt torn apart by trying to please each parent against the other. 1RP 85. Sherry explained that C.C.'s interpretation of events changed from time to time, depending on which parent he was with when describing the event. He would describe an event as positive with one parent and the same event as negative when he was with the other parent. 1RP 90.

Defense counsel argued that C.C.'s hearsay statements should be excluded from trial. The evidence showed a connection between the family dynamics and the boys' disclosures, in that their description of events changed depending on which parent they were with. 4RP 377. Counsel argued that the impact of these family dynamics and the circumstances of C.C.'s initial allegations against Barry rendered those statements and his subsequent repetition of the accusations unreliable. 4RP 373-383.

The court acknowledged that the children were aware of and stressed by the acrimonious relationship between their parents, and it was possible to infer that C.C. was lying in order to please his father. 4RP 400. It also noted that a motive to lie could be found from Richard's testimony that C.C. was needy for attention, but it felt defense counsel would be able to cross examine C.C. to reveal the truth. 4RP 402-03. The

court ruled that the boys' statements showed sufficient indicia of reliability to present at trial. 4RP 408; CP 143-48.

b. Court's instruction to consider Barry's demeanor

During the course of child hearsay hearing, there was some visible reaction from members of the audience. 1RP 104. The court admonished those present, saying

I need to have all of you keep your faces and your physical reactions to [C.C.'s] testimony stoned; stoney. At this point do not make any movements. Do not have any physiological reaction to his testimony... I will also not have anyone in the courtroom make any motions in any way, shape, or form reflecting on the credibility of this particular witness or any other witness in this case.... I will not have any member of the audience interfere with that process.

1RP 104-05.

Again prior to trial, the court admonished the attorneys to instruct

family members or friends who come to watch the proceedings that they must keep their remarks to themselves, to watch their faces, their physical language because it could have an adverse affect on Mr. Barry because what will happen is that I will eject them if I see it happening, and it could result in a mistrial depending on how serious the behavior is, and we start all over again. So I just don't want to do that, so I just simply ask you, as an officer of the Court, to make sure that you have a serious discussion with them.

4RP 450-51. Then, specifically addressing Barry, the court stated that an expression of emotion before the jury often backfires, and that everyone should keep their thoughts and opinions to themselves. 4RP 451.

After these warnings from the court, the case proceeded to trial. The DVDs of the boys' interviews with the prosecutor's office were played for the jury. 4RP 483, 487. The State also presented testimony from Richard, Sherry, and Fisher, each repeating C.C.'s out of court statements alleging abuse by Barry. 5RP 623, 663, 697-98.

C.C. also testified that Barry hurt him sexually. He said Barry rubbed his penis on C.C.'s and tried to stick his penis in C.C.'s butt. 5RP 573. C.C. said that this happened every day for about three years. 5RP 588. For the first time, C.C. said that Barry had told him to go do these acts to other kids. 5RP 580, 677, 703, 754.

Gwen testified that she lived with her parents after she and Richard separated, and her parents provided child care for the boys. Gwen testified that she would put C.C. on the school bus in the morning, and B.C. stayed with her parents when she went to work. After work she would meet C.C.'s school bus at the end of the day. 5RP 709. This arrangement ended when C.C. made allegations about Barry. 5RP 726.

Barry did not testify at trial.

During deliberations, the jury asked the court "Can we use as 'evidence,' for deliberation, our observations of the Defendant's – actions – demeanor during the court case?" CP 115. When the court asked the parties to comment, defense counsel suggested referring the jury to the

court's instructions defining evidence and forbidding them to use the fact that Barry chose not to testify against him. 5RP 824.

The court responded that case law indicates that jurors may consider not only what they hear on the stand but also what they witness in the courtroom. 5RP 824. The court noted that neither attorney called attention to Barry's demeanor during closing argument, and there was no record of Barry's demeanor, but the court believed it was appropriate for the jury to consider anything it observed regarding Barry's demeanor in its deliberations. 5RP 826-27, 832. The court answered the jury's question, "Evidence includes what you witness in the courtroom." CP 115. Defense counsel objected to this answer. 5RP 829.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE IMPROPER ADMISSION OF UNRELIABLE CHILD HEARSAY DENIED BARRY A FAIR TRIAL.

By statute, hearsay statements of a child under the age of 10 concerning sexual contact are admissible if

- (1) The court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability; and
- (2) The child either:
- (a) Testifies at the proceedings; or
- (b) Is unavailable as a witness: PROVIDED, That when the child is unavailable as a witness, such statement may be admitted only if

there is corroborative evidence of the act.

RCW 9A.44.120. Because C.C. testified at trial, the issue for this court is whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding his out of court statements reliable. See State v. Woods, 154 Wn.2d 613, 623, 114 P.3d 1174 (2005).

Reliability is analyzed according to the nine factors identified in State v. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d 165, 691 P.2d 197 (1984): (1) whether the child had an apparent motive to lie, (2) the child's general character, (3) whether more than one person heard the statements, (4) the spontaneity of the statements, (5) whether trustworthiness was suggested by the timing of the statement and the relationship between the child and the witness, (6) whether the statements contained express assertions of past fact, (7) whether the child's lack of knowledge could be established through cross-examination, (8) the remoteness of the possibility of the child's recollection being faulty, and (9) whether the surrounding circumstances suggested the child misrepresented the defendant's involvement. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d at 175-76. Although not every factor need be established, this test must be substantially satisfied for the child's hearsay statements to be admissible. Woods, 154 Wn.2d at 623-24.

In this case, C.C. was caught engaging in sexual behavior with his younger cousin. Although he maintained for some time that he had

learned the behavior from another boy, his therapist was sure he had been taught by an adult. She shared this information with his father and stepmother, and they began questioning C.C. One evening, after the family had been to a movie, Richard and Lindsay questioned C.C. about who had taught him this behavior. C.C. first named one of his mother's former boyfriends. C.C. felt that Richard did not believe him, so he gave another name. C.C. was tired and wanted the questions to stop. 4RP 373-74; Exhibit 1. He finally named Barry, at which point Richard and Lindsay ended the conversation. 1RP 139. C.C. repeated the accusations to his therapists and to the interviewer for the prosecutor's office, and these statements were all admitted at trial.

The court's conclusion that the statements were sufficiently reliable is not supported by the evidence. First, C.C. had an apparent motive to lie when he named Barry. There was no dispute that Richard and Gwen had been involved in a contentious divorce and that the children were aware of the conflict between their parents. C.C. felt torn apart by the tension between his parents, always trying to please the parent he was with, and his interpretation of events changed depending on which parent he was with at the time. 1RP 85, 90. C.C. also knew of the animosity between Richard and Barry. 1RP 196-97.

Given the situation Richard and Lindsay put C.C. in when the initial allegations were made, it is apparent that C.C. had a reason to accuse Barry, even if Barry was not at fault. C.C. was tired and wanted the questioning to stop, and Richard had already shown that he did not believe the first two names C.C. had given. He knew Richard had a conflict with Barry, and C.C. would try to please Richard, since C.C. was living with him. This apparent motive to lie and the circumstances surrounding the statements weigh against a finding of reliability.

Moreover, C.C. had already demonstrated a willingness to lie about this situation. He maintained for a couple of weeks that T.T. had taught him the sexual behavior he engaged in with his cousin, although it later came out that C.C. had initiated the sexual contact with T.T. 1RP 46. The character factor in the reliability determination goes to the child's reputation for truthfulness. State v. Kennealy, 151 Wn. App. 861, 881, 214 P.3d 200 (2009), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1012 (2010). No evidence other than C.C.'s persistent lies about sexual contact was introduced as to C.C.'s character. In the absence of other evidence, this factor weighs in favor of exclusion of the hearsay statements, and the court's conclusion that this factor was neutral is in error.

Next, as the trial court recognized, C.C.'s statements were not spontaneous, but rather they were produced by directed questioning. 4RP

404; <u>See e.g. State v. Young</u>, 62 Wn. App. 895, 901, 802 P.2d 829 (1991) (child's statements are not spontaneous if the product of leading or suggestive questions). This factor, too, weighs in favor of exclusion.

The balance of reliability factors weighs in favor of exclusion of C.C.'s hearsay statements, and the court erred in admitting them. Barry's conviction should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial with instruction to exclude the hearsay from evidence.

2. BY ERRONEOUSLY INSTRUCTING THE JURY IT COULD CONSIDER BARRY'S COURTROOM DEMEANOR, THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED BARRY'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS NOT TO TESTIFY AND TO A VERDICT BASED SOLELY ON THE EVIDENCE.

Under the Fifth Amendment privilege against self incrimination, a defendant has a constitutional right not to testify. U.S. Const. Amend. V. When a defendant chooses not to testify, "the fact of his presence and his non-testimonial behavior in the courtroom [may] not be taken as evidence of his guilt." <u>United States v. Carroll</u>, 678 F.2d 1208, 1209 (4th Cir. 1982); <u>accord United States v. Schuler</u>, 813 F.2d 978, 980 (9th Cir. 1987) (defendant's laughter during witness testimony could not be considered as evidence in guilt determination); <u>United States v. Pearson</u>, 746 F.2d 787, 796 (11th Cir. 1984) (defendant's behavior off of the witness stand, i.e., nervous shaking of his leg, was not evidence to be considered by jury);

United States v. Wright, 489 F.2d 1181, 1186 (D.C. Cir. 1973) (defendant's demeanor and emotional response to testimony was not evidence to be used in determining guilt or innocence); Henriod v. Henriod, 198 Wash. 519, 524-525, 89 P.2d 222 (1938) (jury may consider defendant's demeanor during trial only if defendant offers himself as a witness); cf. State v. Klok, 99 Wn.App. 81, 992 P.2d 1039 (a prosecutor may not comment on a nontestifying defendant's demeanor during trial), review denied, 141 Wn.2d 1005 (2000). Thus, when the defendant has not testified, it is improper to comment on his demeanor, so as to invite the jury to draw a negative inference about his character. See State v. Smith, 144 Wn.2d 665, 679, 30 P.3d 1245, 39 P.3d 2994 (2001).

The constitutional right to a jury trial includes the right to a verdict based solely on the evidence developed at trial. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Turner v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 466, 472, 85 S. Ct. 546, 13 S. Ed. 2d 424 (1965). Where the defendant exercises his right not to testify, his demeanor is not evidence, and it may not be considered by the jury in deliberations. Schuler, 813 F.2d at 981 n.3; see also State v. Knapp, 14 Wash.App. 101, 110-11, 540 P.2d 898 (where defendant testified and main task before jury was to determine credibility of various witnesses, prosecutor's remarks about defendant's demeanor on the stand were not improper), review denied, 86 Wn.2d 1006 (1975).

Here, Barry exercised his right not to testify. Moreover, no statements of his were in evidence, and neither party offered any evidence of Barry's character. There were no issues of credibility or character for the jury to decide, and Barry's behavior in the courtroom was therefore irrelevant to the jury's verdict.

The trial court's initial instruction to the jury regarding evidence is consistent with the principle that a non-testifying defendant's demeanor may not be considered by the jury. Instruction No. 1 stated:

Your decisions as jurors must be made solely upon the evidence presented during these proceedings.

The evidence that you are to consider during your deliberations consists of the testimony that you have heard from witnesses and the exhibits that I have admitted during the trial. If evidence was not admitted or was stricken from the record, then you are not to consider it in reaching your verdict.

CP 119.

While neither attorney commented on Barry's demeanor during trial, the jury clearly took note of it and asked the court whether it could consider that demeanor in reaching its verdict. CP 115. The proper response from the court would have been, as defense counsel argued, to refer the jury to the instruction defining evidence, assuring they understood that Barry's courtroom demeanor could not be considered. 5RP 824; Klok, 99 Wn.App. at 85 (if trial counsel had objected to prosecutor's remarks about defendant's courtroom demeanor, court could

have corrected the error by instructing the jury that the remark was improper, was not evidence, and should be completely disregarded). Instead, the court responded that everything the jury observed in the courtroom could be considered as evidence. CP 115. Because Barry did not testify at trial, his demeanor was not evidence in the case, and the jury should not have been instructed to consider it.

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