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

acted rudely during trial by belching loudly and by interrupting the judge.

Franklin, 776 N.E. 2d at 35. In closing argument the prosecutor commented

on the defendant's rude behavior, and on appeal the defendant argued that

this comment was improper. Franklin, 776 N.E. 2d at 37. The Supreme

Court of Ohio, however, found no error and held that "the prosecution may,

of course, comment on the accused's appearance" and "this rule can be

extended to commentary on a defendant's actions at trial." Id. at 37.

Other courts have also treated a defendant's courtroom demeanor as

evidence and have held that comments on demeanor are proper. See Bailey v.

State, 625 So.2d 1182, 1183 (Ala. Cr.App. 1993)("The conduct ofthe accused

or the accused's demeanor during the trial is a proper subject of comment. ");

Wherry v. State, 402 So.2d 1130, 1133 (Ala.Crim.App. 198 1) ( "[t]he conduct

of the accused or the accused's demeanor during the trial is a proper subject
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of comment "); James v. State, 564 So.2d 1002, 1007 (Ala.Cr.App.1989)(no

error in the prosecutor's comment that the Defendant had been smiling);

Bishop v. Wainwright, 511 F.2d 664 ( 5th Cir.1975)(holding it was

permissible to refer to defendant's expressionless courtroom demeanor); U.S.

v. Robinson, 523F.Supp.1006 (E.D.N.Y.1981) (holding it was permissible to

refer to defendant's indifferent reaction when informed that money in his

wallet was counterfeit).

In some cases the courts have held that evaluating whether the

Defendant's demeanor was a proper subject of comment requires an

examination of the nature of the defendant's defense or conduct. See, e.g.,

Wherry v. State, 402 So.2d 1130, 1133 (Ala Crim App, 1981) (prosecutor's

comments regarding a defendant's demeanor were proper where the

nontestifying defendant claimed an insanity defense). Examples of

nontestimonial acts held admissible by other courts include when there have

been threats or intimidation of witnesses, U.S. v. Gatto, 995 F.2d 449 (3d

Cir.1993); making a hand gesture in the shape of a gun, U.S. v. Mickens, 926

F.2d 1323 (2d Cir.1991); and mouthing the words "you're dead," U.S. v.

Maddox, 944 F.2d 1223 (6th Cir.1991).

In addition, in the Schuler case (cited by the Defendant in the present

case) there was a vigorous dissent by Judge Hall who concluded that "the

principle that a defendant's courtroom demeanor is evidence is well- settled."
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Schuler, 813 F.2d at 983 (9 Cir 1987). Judge Hall then went on to note that,

Sound policy reasons exist for allowing a jury to consider the
courtroom demeanor of a defendant. As Wigmore noted: "[I]t
is as unwise to attempt the impossible as it is impolitic to
conduct trials upon a fiction; and the attempt to force a jury to
become mentally blind to the behavior of the accused sitting
before them involves both an impossibility in practice and a
fiction in theory." 2 J. Wigmore, Evidence § 274 Q.
Chadbourn rev. ed. 1979). Taken to its logical conclusion, the
majority's opinion would require a court to instruct a jury to
reach its verdict as if the accused had not been present before
it.

Schuler, 813 F.2d at 983 (9 Cir 1987).

In short, there is no national consensus on the issue of whether a

defendant's demeanor (including the demeanor of a non - testifying defendant)

is properly considered as evidence that may be used by a jury. Furthermore,

many courts that have considered that issue have found that a defendant's

demeanor is evidence that a jury may consider. Finally, as some of the cases

cited above suggest, a contrary ruling would lead to the rather absurd result

that ajury would be unable to consider the outrageous or extremely improper

actions of a defendant who openly threatened, intimidated, or even assaulted

7

Judge Hall's dissent also notes that,

Practically it is impossible to prevent jurors from observing the appearance and
behavior of the accused very closely while he is in court during the trial. They will
naturally draw inferences therefrom either favorable or unfavorable to him. The
information thus obtained is evidence, and, doubtless, many a verdict has been
determined thereby."

Schuler, 813 F.2d at 983 n.2, quoting H. Underhill, Criminal Evidence § 125 n. 9 (5th ed.
1956).
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or attempted to assault a witness during the witness's testimony. Given this

conundrum, one could reasonably conclude that even if a court were inclined

to conclude that in some cases demeanor should not be considered evidence,

a logical and sensible rule would not include a blanket prohibition, but rather

would require some examination of what type of demeanor was at issue and

what for purpose the evidence would be used.

After citing the Federal cases mentioned above, the Defendant next

turns to the few Washington cases that have addressed the issue. The

Washington cases, however, do not resolve the issue. In examining the

Washington cases, it is critical to look at the actual language ofthe cases. For

instance, the Defendant cites State v. Smith, 144 Wn.2d 665, 679, 30 P.3d

1245 (2001) for the proposition that "when the defendant has not testified, it

is improper to comment on his demeanor, so as to invite the jury to draw a

negative inference about his character." App.'s Br. at 14, citing Smith, 114

Wn.2d at 679.

The Smith opinion, however, does not say exactly what the Defendant

claims it does. Rather, the actual language from Smith is that "While it may

be improper to comment on a defendant's demeanor so as to invite a jury to

draw a negative inference about the defendant's character, the prejudice

flowing from such comments is not necessarily incurable by instruction."

Smith, 144 Wn.2d at 679 (emphasis added). In Smith the prosecutor had
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commented on the defendant's demeanor and described him as looking like

he "has an attitude" and a "chip on his shoulder." Id at 678 -79. The Supreme

Court, however, did not ultimately state unequivocally that these comments

were improper; rather the Court stated that the comments were "likely

improper," but that no objection was raised at trial that if an objection had

been raised the trial court could have cured any impropriety. Id at 679.

In short, given the lack of a national consensus on the issue, the actual

language from Smith (which says that it "may be improper to comment on a

defendant's demeanor so as to invite a jury to draw a negative inference about

the defendant's character ") provides little guidance in the present case,

especially since there was no action by the prosecutor in the present case that

invited the jury to draw a negative inference about the defendant'scharacter.

The Defendant also briefly cites State v Klok, 99 Wn. App. 81, 992

P.2d 1039. App.'s Br. at 14. In Klok the prosecutor commented during

closing argument that the defendant had been "laughing through about halfof

this trial." Klok, 99 Wn.App. at 82. On appeal, Division I ultimately held

that the issue of prosecutorial misconduct based on this remark was "not

reviewable" because the defendant did not object at trial. Id. at 85 -86. In

dicta, however, the court did state (with no citation to authority) that "it is

improper to comment on a defendant's demeanor and to invite the jury to

draw from it a negative inference about the defendant's character." Id at 85.
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This statement, however, provides little guidance in the present case and is

not particularly persuasive since it is dicta and because it states that it is

improper to comment and demeanor and to invite the jury to draw from it a

negative inference about the defendant's character. In the present case, of

course, there is no comment on demeanor nor was there any invitation to the

jury to draw a negative inference about the Defendant's character.

Rather, in the present case the record is completely silent about what

possible demeanor or actions the jury had in mind when it asked its question.

In addition, in the present case the prosecutor never invited the jury to draw a

negative inference about the defendant based on his demeanor. Thus the dicta

from Klok, even if it is to be considered persuasive, is simply not applicable

to the actual facts of the present case.

8

Thus, in the present case it is impossibly to say whether the jury saw something in the
defendant's demeanor that it felt was inappropriate or whether it saw something that was
entirely appropriate and consistent, in its mind, with innocence. Given the silent record, it is
simply impossible to saw what the demeanor at issue was.

9 The only other Washington case cited by the Defendant the seventy five year old opinion in
Henriod v. Henriod, 198 Wash 519, 89 P.2d 222 (1938). App.'s Br. at 14. The Defendant
cites this case for the proposition that a "jury may consider defendant's demeanor during trial
only ifdefendant offers himself as a witness." App.'s Br. at 14. The Henriod, case, however,
does not exactly say this. Rather, the Henriod opinion briefly cites to a Colorado opinion in
which the court stated,

We cannot agree with the argument that the defendant's conduct during the trial of
a case and in the presence of the jury is not a proper subject of their observation.
Indeed, we know it to be a fact, grounded in human nature, that the conduct of a
defendant or of a party to a suit during the trial is more or less potential, and has
necessarily more or less influence with the court and jury upon the question of his
credibility * * *. The conduct of the defendant while testifying, and his demeanor
during the trial, in the jury's presence, provided he offers himself as a witness, are fit
subjects for the jury to consider as affecting the credence to be given to his
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In short, the Defendant has failed to show that the trial court's

instruction was contrary to Washington law. Rather, the court's instruction

was consistent with numerous, well reasoned, cases from around the country

and the court's instruction was not directly contrary to any Washington

case. This Court, therefore, should find that the trial court did not err in

allowing the jury to consider the defendant's demeanor as evidence.

testimony."

Henriod, 198 Wash. At 525, quoting Boykin v. People, 22 Colo. 496, 45 P. 419, 421. The
Washington court in Henriod does not ever specifically say that it is adopting this as the law
of Washington, but it does appear to imply some approval of the reasoning. In any event,
even actual language from the Colorado opinion does not exactly say that there are no
circumstances in which the demeanor of a non - testifying witness is admissible. Rather it
simply says the demeanor of a testifying defendant is clearly evidence. This holding, of
course, at a minimum leaves open the possibility that in some cases demeanor of a non-
testifying defendant may be admissible, depending on the circumstances at issue.

10 The State respectfully submits that the words of Wigmore contain a certain logic and
sensibility that should be incorporated into a commonsense rule in the present case. As
Wigmore noted:

I]t is as unwise to attempt the impossible as it is impolitic to conduct
trials upon a fiction; and the attempt to force a jury to become mentally
blind to the behavior of the accused sitting before them involves both an
impossibility in practice and a fiction in theory."

2 J. Wigmore, Evidence § 274 (J. Chadboum rev. ed. 1979). This Court could incorporate
this passage from Wigmore, and the previous dicta from Smith and Klok, into a rule that
would read something like this,

It is improper for a prosecutor to comment on a non - testifying
defendant's demeanor and to thereby invite the jury to draw a negative
inference about the defendant's character, absent some showing that the
comment on the demeanor was consistent with the spirit ofER 404(b) or
other evidence rule that would allow evidence regarding certain actions
to be considered as evidence. Furthermore, while a prosecutor may not
comment on a defendant's demeanor and ask the jury to draw a negative
inference about the defendant's character, a jury may nevertheless
consider a defendant's demeanor because to suggest otherwise would be
an impossibility in practice and a fiction in theory.

29



Furthermore, even ifthis Court were to conclude (or to assume for the

sake of argument) that the trial court improperly allowed the jury to use the

Defendant's demeanor as evidence, any error in the present case was

harmless.

The issue in the present case clearly revolves around the issue of

whether the trial court properly allowed the jury to consider the Defendant's

demeanor as evidence. Under Washington law, a trial court's evidentiary

error that does not result in prejudice to the defendant is not grounds for

reversal. State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wash.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997).

E]rror is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome

of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred."

State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981).

The Defendant, however, claims that the more stringent standard for

constitutional errors should apply, and that the State is therefore required to

prove that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. App.'s Br. at

16. The Defendant claims that the error here was "constitutional" because it

impacted his privilege against self incrimination and his right to a verdict

based solely on the evidence. App.'s Br. at 16. The Defendant has cited no

authority, however, holding that an error such as the one in the present case

is, in fact, a constitutional error. In addition, since the record is completely

silent on what type of demeanor evidence is at issue, the Defendant cannot
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show that the instruction impacted his privilege against self incrimination.

Rather, based on the record below this court cannot say that the demeanor

weighed for or against the defendant. Rather, for all we know the demeanor

evidence weighed in the Defendant's favor. Furthermore, the Defendant's

claim that the error impacted his right to a verdict based solely on the

evidence is similarly without merit. Washington law includes numerous

examples where the court applies the non - constitutional harmless error

standard in situations where the trial court erroneously admitted certain

evidence, including highly prejudicial evidence.

For instance, evidence admitted in violation ofER 404(b) is reviewed

under the lesser standard of non - constitutional harmless error. State v.

Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 433, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). Similarly, non-

constitutional harmless error analysis is used in analyzing challenges to the

prior conviction evidence under ER 609(a)(1). State v. Hardy, 133 Wn.2d

701, 712, 946 P.2d 1175 (1997) quoting State v. Ray, 116 Wn.2d 531, 546,

806 P.2d 1220 (1991) (holding the same non - constitutional analysis applies

to both ER 404 and ER 609(a) rulings). Ifboth ER 404(b) and ER 609 errors

do not trigger the constitutional harmless error standard (despite the fact a

defendant could certainly argue that both would violate his right to a "verdict

based solely on the evidence ") then certainly any error in the present case,

where the record is silent as to what demeanor evidence was at issue, must be

31



reviewed under the non - constitutional harmless error standard.

It is also worth noting that had this been a case where the prosecutor

actually commented on the defendant's demeanor and asked the jury to draw

a negative inference about the defendant's character, then the issue would

have been a claim ofprosecutorial misconduct. See, e.g., Klok, 99 Wn App. at

84; Smith, 144 Wn.2d at 678 -79. In such a case the law is clear that the

defendant would bear the burden of establishing the impropriety of the

prosecuting attorney's comments and their prejudicial effect. See, e.g, State v

Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), citing State v. Russell,

125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). To establish prejudice, the

Defendant would be required to demonstrate there is a substantial likelihood

the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. State v. Sakellis, 164 Wn.App.

170, 184, 269 P.3d 1029 (2011)."

As the present case did not involve an actual comment on the

Defendant's demeanor and an invitation to draw a negative inference about

his character, it simply makes no sense to apply a higher harmless error

standard in the present case, especially when the record does not even

demonstrate that the demeanor at issue was weighed against the defendant.

This is the standard that would apply if the Defendant had objected below. Ifno objection
had been made, an even greater showing would be required (namely, that the prosecutor's
misconduct was so flagrant and ill- intentioned that it caused an "enduring and resulting
prejudice" incurable by a jury instruction). Sakellis, 164 Wn.App. at 184.
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In conclusion, this Court should apply the non - constitutional harmless

error standard and hold that the Defendant has failed to show any prejudice,

as the record below is completely silent with respect to what actions or

demeanor were at issue.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Defendant's conviction and sentence

should be affirmed.